

AcuRev 2100 Smart Metering System Web Manual









Copyright © 2024 V: 1.0.2

This manual may not be altered or reproduced in whole or in part by any means without the expressed written consent of Accuenergy.





The information contained in this document is believed to be accurate at the time of publication, however, Accuenergy assumes no responsibility for any errors which may appear here and reserves the right to make changes without notice. Please ask the local representative for latest product specifications before ordering.

Please read this manual carefully before installation, operation and maintenance of the AcuRev 2100 Series Power Meter. The following symbols in this manual are used to provide warning of danger or risk during the installation and operation of the meters.



Electric Shock Symbol: Carries information about procedures which must be followed to reduce the risk of electric shock and danger to personal health.



Safety Alert Symbol: Carries information about circumstances which if not considered may result in injury or death.

Prior to maintenance and repair, the equipment must be de-energized and grounded. All maintenance work must be performed by qualified, competent accredited professionals who have received formal training and have experience with high voltage and current devices. Accuenergy shall not be responsible or liable for any damages or injuries caused by improper meter installation and/or operation.



Table of Contents

Chapter 1 - Introduction	6
1.1.1 IPv6	6
Chapter 2 - Functional Description of the Ethernet module	8
Chapter 3 - Installation Method	
3.1 Definition of RJ45	10
Chapter 4 - Initializing the Ethernet module	11
4.1 Cable	12
Chapter 5 - Connection Method	13
5.1 Direct Connect to a Computer	14
5.2 Direct Connect to a Router/Switch	17
5.3 Connect through WiFi	
5.4 Description of Modbus-TCP Protocol	
5.4.1 Protocol	
a. Data Frame Format	
b. Modbus Application Header (MBA Header) Field	
c. Function Field	19
d. Data Field	
5.4.2 Format of communication	
Explanation of frame	20
Chapter 6 - Web Interface Readings and Parameter Settings	
6.1 User Access Login	23
6.2 Dashboard	24
6.3 Metering web page	
6.3.1 Basic Metering	
6.3.2 Demand	27
6.3.3 Energy	
6.3.4 Harmonics	29



6.3.5 I/O
6.4 Logs
6.4.1.1 Realtime33
6.4.1.2 Energy
6.4.2 Data log
6.4.3 Alarm Log
6.4.4 Event Log
6.4.5 Trendlog Management37
6.4.5.1 Clear Logs
6.5 About
6.5.1 Information
6.5.2 Installation Record39
6.6 Settings42
6.6.1 Meter42
Chapter 7 - Communications
7.1 Network
7.1.1 RSTP Protocol
7.1.2 Network Settings45
7.1.2 Network Settings
7.2 IPv6
7.2 IPv649 7.3 Email
7.2 IPv6 49 7.3 Email 50 7.4 Time/Date 53
7.2 IPv6
7.2 IPv6
7.2 IPv6
7.2 IPv6



7.10.2 MQTT Authentication6	4
7.10.3 MQTT Encryption6	4
7.10.4 Last Will & Testament6	5
7.10.5 Topic and Parameter Selection6	6
7.11 Remote Access6	7
Chapter 8 - Management	9
8.1 Parameter Reset	0
8.2 Reboot Meter & Communications Module7	0
8.3 Change Password7	1
8.4 SSH7	1
8.5 Debug Diagnostic7	1
8.7 Diagnostic File7	2
Chapter 9 - Network Diagnostic7	3
9.1 Network Status7	4
9.2 Host Lookup7	5
9.3 Connection Test7	5
Chapter 10 Firmware	6
10.1 Module Firmware Update7	7
10.1.1 Auto Firmware Update7	7
10.1.2 Manual Update7	8
10.1.3 Remote Update8	0
Chapter 11 Config Management8	2
11.1 Backup Configuration8	4
11.2 Export/Apply Configuration8	6
11.3 Import Configurationon8	6



Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Introduction to Ethernet



Chapter 1: Introduction

The AcuRev 2100 meter provides a dual Ethernet and WiFi communication channel. Users will be able to use both Ethernet ports and WiFi simultaneously with different networks and data acquisition systems.

1.1 Introduction to Ethernet

Ethernet was originally developed by Xerox and then further developed by DEC and Intel. This networking technology uses Carrier Sense Multiple Access with Collision Detection (CDSM/CD) protocol and provides transmission speeds up to 100Mbps.

Ethernet is not a network but more of a standard. It is the most current communication standard used in a Local Area Network (LAN). This standard defines the type of cable that is used and the method of Signal Processing. The AcuRev 2100 meter supports two Ethernet channels.

1.1.1 IPv6

The AcuRev 2100-WEB2 module also supports IPv6 which is the latest version for the internet protocol. The protocol uses 128-bit addressing in comparison to IPv4 which uses 32-bit addressing. The difference for addressing allows for more devices to be connected using IPv6 as opposed to the IPv4 protocol. The protocol is more efficient and provides more secure routing over the internet.



6

Chapter 2: Functional Description of the Ethernet Module

Chapter 2: Functional Description of the Ethernet module

The AcuRev 2100 meter supports a wide range of communication protocols. Some of the more commonly used protocols are briefly explained below.

This module supports the Modbus-TCP protocol. When connected to the AcuRev 2100 series meter, it is a slave device that can only respond to queries. The default value for the Modbus Port is 502. The user-defined range is 2000~5999.

The AcuRev 2100 grants users the ability to send emails based on a time interval or when there is a triggered event using the SMTP protocol. It can send mail from encrypted servers and servers that use different SMTP ports.

The AcuRev 2100 supports HTTPS protocol. It is used as an HTTPS server and where the default value of the protocol port is 443. Using the HTTPS protocol, the AcuRev 2100 can send post requests to both HTTP and HTTPS servers.

The following are all the protocols supported by the AcuRev 2100:

- Modbus TCP
- BACnet-IP
- SNMP V2
- HTTP/HTTPs
- FTP
- SFTP
- WiFi WPA, WPA2 Enterprise
- RSTP
- мотт

8



Chapter 3: Installation Method

3.1 Definition of RJ45

Chapter 3: Appearance and Dimensions

3.1 Definition of RJ45

The AcuRev 2100 uses two standard RJ45 connectors to access the Ethernet network. The mechanical and electrical characteristics of the connector are consistent with the requirements of IEC 603-7.



Script	ID	Content	
1	TX+	Tranceive Data+	
2	TX-	Tranceive Data-	
3	RX+	Receive Data+	
4	n/c	Not connected	
5	n/c	Not connected	
6	RX-	Receive Data-	
7	n/c	Not connected	
8	n/c	Not connected	

(Ton View)

LED_L (Yellow): Displays the speed status. When the LED is on it indicates 100Mpbs, whiles an off LED represents a speed of 10Mbps.

LED_R (Green): Displays the link and activity status. When the LED is on it indicates the link status. When the LED is flashing it indicates that there is activity.





Chapter 4: Initializing the Ethernet Module

4.1 Cable

Chapter 4: Initializing the Ethernet module

The default settings in the AcuRev 2100 meter series meter are as follows:

Ethernet 1 (Static IP address)

- IP Address (192.168.1.254)
- Subnet Mask (255.255.255.0)
- Gateway (192.168.1.1)
- DNS Server 1 (8.8.8.8)
- DNS Server 2 (8.8.4.4)
- Modbus Port 502

4.1 Cable

An RJ45 cable is needed to connect the meter to the network.

A shielded twisted pair cable (standard 568A or standard 568B) is recommended as a reference to the EIA/TIA standard.





Chapter 5: Connection Method

5.1 Direct Connect to a Computer 5.2 Direct Connect to a Router/Switch 5.3 Connect through WiFi 5.4 Description of Modbus-TCP Protocol



Chapter 5: Connection Method

5.1 Direct Connect to a Computer

The AcuRev 2100 can be connected to a computer using a crossover cable (standard 568A). The AcuRev 2100 module supports Modbus-TCP and HTTPS Functions for this method of connection.

To connect the meter directly to the computer, the computer's IP must be within the same subnet as the meter's IP address. The following steps outline how to change the IP address of a computer running Windows OS:

- Manually connect the meter to the computer via an Ethernet cable
- Right-click on the connection icon
- Select "Open Network Sharing Center"

Settings		- ø ×
යි Home	Status	
Find a setting	Network status	Have a question? Get help
Network & Internet		
🔁 Status		Make Windows better Give us feedback
<i>i</i> ℳi-Fi	Private network You're connected to the Internet	Give us reedback
💭 Ethernet	You have a limited data plan, you can make this network a metered connection or change other properties.	
🕾 Dial-up	Change connection properties	
% VPN	Show available networks	
r∯> Airplane mode	Change your network settings	
ဖုခဲ Mobile hotspot	Change adapter options View network adapters and change connection settings.	
🕑 Data usage	Bharing options	
Proxy	For the networks you connect to, decide what you want to share.	
	Network troubleshooter Diagnose and fix network problems.	1
	View your network properties	
	Windows Firewall	

Click on Change adapter options





Find a setting	Connections			-		×
	↑ 😨 → Control Panel → Network and Internet → Network Conn	rections	v ð Si	earch Network Conn	nections	٩
Network & Intern Organize -				87 •	•	0
🕏 Status	Accuenergy VPN Disconnected WAN Miniport (KEv2) Buetooth Networ Connection Not connected	k Ethernet AcuOP1-2.4G Realtek PCIe GBE Family C	Ethernet 2 Network ca TAP-Windo	ible unplugged ws Adapter V9		
🛿 Wi-Fi 📕	Wi-Fi Not connected Realtek RTL8522BE 802.11a					
≓ Ethernet	ddd Realter R1L88228E 802.11a					
P Dial-up						
8° VPN						
> Airplane moc						
> Airplane moc						
≇}⇒ Airplane moc						
Airplane moc ⁰ 1 ⁰ Mobile hotsp						

• Once there, right-click on the local area connection icon and select properties.

Find a setting	Connections		- 0	×
← → ·	↑ 🔮 → Control Panel → Network and Internet → Network C	onnections	✓ 🖏 Search Network Connections	ρ
Vetwork & Intern Organize	🖗 Ethernet Status 🛛 🗙	Rename this connection View status of this connection	Change settings of this connection	0
🖻 Status 🛛 🛒 & Wi-Fi	General Connection IPv4 Connectivity: Internet IPv6 Connectivity: No network access	vork Ethernet AcuOP1-2.4G Realtek PCIe GBE Family C	Ethernet 2 Network cable unplugged TAP-Windows Adapter V9	
⊋ Ethernet 🕺	Media State: Enabled Duration: 01:21:53 Speed: 100.0 Mips			
한 Dial-up 양 VPN	Activity			
Airplane moc	Sent — 駴 — Received			
⁽⁾ Mobile hotsp	Bytes: 687,968,223 1,537,341,274			
9 Data usage	Properties Olisable Diagnose			
Proxy	Close			

Windows Firewall

Select the icon that says Internet Protocol Version 4 TCP/IP



•



The Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IP) Properties box will pop up



Click on "Use the following IP address" and enter an IP number so that the meter and computer are in the same local network range. For example, if the meter has an IP address of 192.168.1.254, then the computer must be assigned with an IP 192.168.1.xxx, where xxx can be any number but cannot be the same as the value the meter has.





	Status	- D X
Find a setting	← → ∨ ↑ ♥ > Control Panel > Network and Internet > Network Connections	v ð Search Network Connections ρ
Network & Intern		
vetwork & intern	Ornanize Disable this network device Dianness this connection Rename this connection View status of this connection X	Change settings of this connection 📳 🔹 🔟 👔
🕏 Status	Networking Sharing both Network lettion Letting Sharing both Network lettion Letting Branity C.,	Ethernet 2 Network cable unplugged TAP-Windows Adapter V9
🕼 Wi-Fi	Co Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv4) Properties X	
💭 Ethernet	General	
🕆 Dial-up	The "You can get IP settings assigned automatically if your network supports the support of the	
% VPN	Cobtain an IP address automatically Output the following IP address:	
Airplane moc	IP address: 192 . 168 . 1 . 15 Subnet mask: 235 . 255 . 0	
I [®] Mobile hotsp		
🦻 Data usage	Obtain DNS server address automotionly (@Use the fallowing DNS server addresses: Prefere DNS server:	
Proxy	Alternate DKS server:	
	Validate settings upon exit Advanced	
	Sitems	100 a

- Once you have entered in the IP address, press the Tab key on your keyboard until you hit the bottom and click OK
- Before selecting the OK button make note of the IP address you have assigned to the meter and then press OK.

NOTE: The meter and computer cannot have the same IP address, they must be different.

5.2 Direct Connect to a Router/Switch

The AcuRev 2100 can be connected to a router or switch using a patch cable. The DHCP can be configured to Auto to have the router assign the meter with an IP address or the DHCP can be configured to Manual to set an IP address and network settings manually.

AcuRev 2100 has two Ethernet ports, Ethernet 1 is set to have the static DHCP, and Ethernet 2 is set to have the dynamic DHCP. Both Ethernet ports have the same functionality and either can be used depending on the project requirements.





5.3 Connect through WiFi

The AcuRev 2100 can be connected through a WiFi network.

By default, the AcuRev 2100 will be in Access Point mode with the default IP address of 192.168.100.1. Ensure the device connecting to the AcuRev 2100 has DHCP enabled or it should be in the same subnet as the AcuRev 2100. The module will appear in the WiFi network as AcuRev 2100-WIFI-(serial number of the module) as the SSID or name of the wireless network. By default, the network key or password will be "accuenergy".

- Once connected to the network, open an internet browser and type in the IP address of the WIFI module: **192.168.100.**1
- Log in at Admin access level, using the default password of 'admin'.

5.4 Description of Modbus-TCP Protocol

The Modbus-TCP protocol is one of the communication protocols in the AcuRev 2100. The protocol establishes a master and slave connection in Ethernet. The master device (client) first sets up a TCP-IP link with the slave device (server). The master device then sends a request to the slave device and the slave device, in return, sends a response to the master device. The figure below shows how the Modbus-TCP protocol works.



5.4.1 Protocol

a. Data Frame Format

MBAP Header	Function	Data
7x8 bits	8-bits	Nx8 bits





b. Modbus Application Header (MBA Header) Field

The Modbus application header field is the start of the data frame and consists of seven bytes.

Field	Length	Description
Transaction Identifier	2 Bytes	Identification of a Modbus Request/Response transaction
Protocol Identifier	2 Bytes	Modbus Protocol = 0
Length	2 Bytes	Number of following bytes
Unit Identifier	1 Bytes	Slave address, in the range of 0-247 decimal

c. Function Field

The function code field of a message frame contains eight bits. Valid codes are in the range of 1-255. When a message is sent from a client to a server device, the function code field tells the server what kinds of action to perform.

Code	Meaning	Action
05	Control Single Relay Output	Force Relay to a state of ON or OFF
01	Read Relay Output Status	Obtain current status of Relay Output
02	Read Digital Input (DI) Status	Obtain current status of Digital Input
03	Read Data	Obtain current binary value in one or more registers
16	Write Multiple Registers	Place specific value into a series of consecutive multiple registers





d. Data Field

The data field is constructed using sets of two hexadecimal digits, in the range of 00 to FF. The data field of messages sent from a master to a slave contains additional information that the slave must use to take the action defined by the function code. This can include information such as the register addresses, the number of registers to query and the count of the actual number of data bytes. For example, if the master requests a slave to read a group of holding registers (function code 03), the data field specifies the starting register and how many registers are to be read.

If the master needs to write data (function code 10 hexadecimal) to a group of registers in the slave, the data field specifies the starting register, how many registers to write, the count of data bytes to follow in the data field and the data to be written into the registers.

5.4.2 Format of Communication

Explanation of frame

Transaction identifier hi	Transaction identifier lo	Protocol identifier hi	Protocol identifier lo	Length hi	Length lo	Unit identifier
00H	00H	00H	00H	00H	06H	01H

Function Code	Data start register hi	Data start register lo	Data # of registers hi	Data # of registers lo
03H	40H	00H	00H	48H

The meaning of each abbreviated field above is:

Transaction identifier hi: High byte of the transaction identifier

Transaction identifier lo: Low byte of the transaction identifier

Protocol identifier hi: High byte of the protocol identifier

Protocol identifier low: Low byte of the protocol identifier

Length hi: High byte of length

Length lo: Low byte of length

Unit identifier: Slave address





Fun: Function code

Data start register hi: High byte of starting register address

Data start register lo: Low byte of starting register address

Data # of registers hi: High byte of number of registers

Data # of registers lo: Low byte of number of registers



Chapter 6: Web Interface Readings and Parameter Settings

6.1 User Access Login 6.2 Dashboard 6.3 Metering Web Page 6.4 Logs 6.5 About 6.6 Settings

Chapter 6: Web Interface Readings and Parameter Settings

The AcuRev 2100 supports the HTTPS protocol to allow for the use of a web interface. The user will need to access the AcuRev 2100 interface to configure the module and use its functions. The web interface allows for remote initial setup of the AcuRev 2100 meter.

The AcuRev 2100 interface allows for different user access levels.

To access the web interface the IP address for the AcuRev 2100 either Ethernet 1, Ethernet 2 or a WiFi IP address must be known.

6.1 User Access Login

Enter the correct IP address of the module in the search bar of the internet browser to access the web interface of the AcuRev 2100.

The user will be redirected to a web page prompting to select the Access Level and enter the appropriate password for that level.

The *User* level is ideal for users who need only to take readings and view status from the meter.

The default password for the User level is *view*.

It is recommended that no more than 5 users are logged in at the same time for this level to ensure the optimal performance of the web interface.

The *Admin* level is ideal for users who need access to configurations on the meter or the web interface and to view readings.

The default password for the Admin level is *admin*.





Access level*

- O User View reports and settings
- O Admin Edit settings, control meter

Password*

Enter Password	
Sign In	
SSL Certificate 📥	

The two different access levels are summarized below:

Access Level	Default Password	Read Parameter/Status	Configure Settings
User	view	Yes	No
Admin	admin	Yes	Yes

6.2 Dashboard

In the dashboard, the user will find the tabs to access different pages in the web interface such as *Metering, Logs*, and *Settings*. The dashboard is the first page the user will see once they have entered the correct password for the appropriate access level and is the same for both access levels.

The dashboard displays the basic metering page which allows users to view the real time readings such as voltage, current, power and power factor. This table is a summary of all user channels (circuits) connected to the AcuRev 2100 meter.





ering Basic Metering	System					
	System System Parameter	A	в	c	Total	Average
	Line-to-Neutral Voltage v	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000
	Line-to-Line Voltage v	10.445	11.224	10.427	-	10.698
	Current A	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.000
	Active Power kw	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	Reactive Power kvar	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	Apparent Power kva	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	Power Factor	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	
	Load Nature	R	R	R	R	
	Frequency Hz			0.000		

By clicking on "Select Channel" under the chart, the user will be able to see each input channel's reading or three-phase User reading below.

System						
System Parameter		A	в	c	Total	Average
Line-to-Neutral Voltage v		0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000
Line-to-Line Voltage v		10.783	10.302	11.554		10.880
Current A		0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000
Active Power kw		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Reactive Power kvar		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Apparent Power kvA		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Power Factor		1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	
Load Nature		R	R	R	R	
Frequency Hz				0.000		
Input Channel 1	٠					
Channel						
Channel Parameter						Input Channel 1
Current A						0.000
						0.000
Active Power kw						0.000
Active Power kw Reactive Power kvar						
						0.000
Reactive Power kvar						

The parameters on this page are updated every 5 sec.



6.3 Metering Web Page

Click on the **Metering** menu option to visit the metering data web pages. There are 5 kinds of metering parameter web pages. They are "Basic Metering", "Demand", "Energy", "Harmonics" and "I/O". Each web page shows data from the AcuRev 2100 meter.

sic Metering						
mand	System					
ergy rmonics	System Parameter	A	В	c	Total	Average
2	Line-to-Neutral Voltage v	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000
	Line-to-Line Voltage v	10.336	12.073	10.325	-	10.911
	Current A	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000
	Active Power kw	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	41
	Reactive Power kvar	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	Apparent Power kva	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	Power Factor	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	
	Load Nature	R	R	R	R	
	Frequency Hz			0.000		

6.3.1 Basic Metering

The Basic Metering webpage includes the data of real-time parameters for the AcuRev 2100 meter. This includes the Line Voltages, Phase Voltages, Current, Active, Reactive and Apparent Power, Power Factor, Frequency and Load type.

The parameters on this page are updated every 5 sec.

Users can use the select a channel drop down menu to select a desired channel or circuit.

System					
System Parameter	A	в	c	Total	Average
Line-to-Neutral Voltage v	119.876	119.874	119.849	-	119.866
Line-to-Line Voltage v	207.629	207.607	207.608	-	207.615
Current A	20.599	19.353	18.334		19.429
Active Power xw	2.462	2.319	2.192	6.973	
Reactive Power kiar	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Apparent Power kva	2.462	2.319	2.192	6.973	-
Power Factor	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	
Load Nature	R	R	R	R	-
Frequency Hz			50.000		





6.3.2 Demand

The demand page shows the Current Demand, Active Power Demand, Reactive Power Demand and Apparent Power Demand for each phase.

The demand table also includes the peak demand, the peak demand timestamp, and the demand prediction. This table provides the overall demand for all circuits connected to the AcuRev 2100 meter.

Curre	nt				
	System Parameter	Demand	Demand Peak	Demand Peak Time	Prediction
	Current Demand A	0.000	548.149	2020-03-27 17:04:08	0.000
	Active Power Demand kw	0.000	56.217	2020-03-26 16:27:13	0.000
A	Reactive Power Demand kvar	0.000	-28.045	2020-03-27 15:29:55	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand kvA	0.000	56.304	2020-03-26 16:29:13	0.000
	Current Demand A	0.000	24.040	2020-03-26 16:16:13	0.000
в	Active Power Demand kw	0.000	2.886	2020-03-26 16:29:13	0.000
D	Reactive Power Demand Ivar	0.000	-1.447	2020-03-27 16:54:06	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand kvA	0.000	2.884	2020-03-26 15:11:05	0.000
	Current Demand A	0.000	24.017	2020-03-27 17:14:09	0.000
-	Active Power Demand kw	0.000	2.884	2020-03-26 15:28:06	0.000
C	Reactive Power Demand kvar	0.000	-1.442	2020-03-27 16:37:04	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand kvA	0.000	2.882	2020-03-27 17:14:09	0.000
	Current Demand A				
Total	Active Power Demand kw	0.000	61.983	2020-03-26 16:27:13	0.000
lotai	Reactive Power Demand kvar	0.000	-30.928	2020-03-27 15:29:55	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand kvA	0.000	62.070	2020-03-26 16:29:13	0.000

User can select and view the demand for specific circuits by using the drop down menu option on the demand page. The demand table for the specific circuit will be displayed below the meter demand readings.





Metering • 🕤 Log

Current					
	System Parameter	Demand	Demand Peak	Demand Peak Time	Prediction
	Current Demand a	0.000	548.149	2020-03-27 17:04:08	0.000
A	Active Power Demand kw	0.000	56.217	2020-03-26 16:27:13	0.000
A	Reactive Power Demand war	0.000	-28.045	2020-03-27 15:29:55	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand IoA	0.000	56.304	2020-03-26 16:29:13	0.000
	Current Demand A	0.000	24.040	2020-03-26 16:16:13	0.000
8	Active Power Demand w	0.000	2.886	2020-03-26 16:29:13	0.000
0	Reactive Power Demand loar	0.000	-1.447	2020-03-27 16:54:06	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand www	0.000	2.884	2020-03-26 15:11:05	0.000
	Current Demand A	0.000	24.017	2020-03-27 17:14:09	0.000
с	Active Power Demand w	0.000	2.884	2020-03-26 15:28:06	0.000
C	Reactive Power Demand war	0.000	-1.442	2020-03-27 16:37:04	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand www	0.000	2.882	2020-03-27 17:14:09	0.000
	Current Demand a				
Total	Active Power Demand xw	0.000	61.983	2020-03-26 16:27:13	0.000
Turtan	Reactive Power Demand low	0.000	-30.928	2020-03-27 15:29:55	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand kva	0.000	62.070	2020-03-26 16:29:13	0.000
Input Ch	arreal 1				
Current	arrier 1				
	Channel Parameter	Demand	Demand Peak	Demand Peak Time	Prediction
	Current Demand A	0.000	0.002	2020-03-23 12:12:06	0.000
Input Channel	Active Power Demand xw	0.000	0.000	2000-01-01 00:00:00	0.000
1	Reactive Power Demand low	0.000	0.000	2000-01-01 00:00:00	0.000
	Apparent Power Demand we	0.000	0.000	2000-01-01 00:00:00	0.000

6.3.3 Energy

The Power & Energy webpage shows the energy data for the AcuRev 2100 meter such as the Active, Reactive and Apparent energy that is consumed. The energy data is displayed as the total as well as per phase. If users have configured TOU (Time of Use) on the meter, the TOU energy can be viewed from the energy page as well.

The AcuRev 2100 does not support bi-directional energy and is only able to view the consumed energy.

The parameters on this webpage are updated every 5 sec.

Real-Time				
System Parameter	Α	в	с	Total
Active Energy KWh	205.600	13.200	13.200	232.00
Reactive Energy loam	66.000	3.400	3.400	72.800
Apparent Energy kVAh	223.100	14.100	14.100	251.30
Current Month TOU				
System Parameter	Α	В	c	Total
Active Energy Total kWh	205.600	13.200	13.200	232.00
Active Energy Rate Sharp	205.600	13.200	13.200	232.00
Active Energy Rate Peak	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Active Energy Rate Valley	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Active Energy Rate Normal	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Prior Month TOU				
System Parameter	Α	В	с	Total
Active Energy Total kWh	202.500	10.400	10.400	223.30
Active Energy Rate Sharp	202.500	10.400	10.400	223.300
Active Energy Rate Peak	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Active Energy Rate Valley	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Active Energy Rate Normal	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000





Users can select and view the energy for each circuit by using the drop-down menu below the main energy table. The individual circuit energy table is presented below the main table.

neter
ćWh
y kvarh
gy kVAh
h TOU
neter
Total kWh
Rate Sharp
Rate Peak
Rate Valley
Rate Normal
rou
neter
Total kWh
Rate Sharp
Rate Peak
Rate Valley

6.3.4 Harmonics

The Harmonics web page will show the harmonics of the voltage and the current waveform being measured. It will display the harmonics of each phase in graphical and tabular format. Select between voltage and current to view their respective harmonics.

In the harmonic page users can view the THD, Voltage/Current unbalance factor, Even/Odd THD, Crest Factor and THFF readings.

The parameters on this web page are updated every 15 sec.







6.3.5 I/O

There are 18 digital inputs for AcuRev 2100 series meter. Each digital input channel can be programmed as either a status indicator or a DI pulse input counter. Users can view the pulse count or digital status as well as reset the DI count from this page.

Digital Input			
Name	Status	Counter	Value
Digital Input 1	-	8	4.000 m3
Digital Input 2	-	2	2.000 t
Digital Input 3	-	3	3.000 t
Digital Input 4	-	4	4.000 t
Digital Input 5	-	5	5.000 t
Digital Input 6		6	6.000 t
Digital Input 7	Off		
Digital Input 8	Off	u	а.
Digital Input 9	Off		
Digital Input 10	Off		
Digital Input 11	Off		4
Digital Input 12	Off		
Digital Input 13		4	0.000 t
Digital Input 14		18	0.000 t
Digital Input 15		16	0.000 t
Digital Input 16		16	0.000 t
Digital Input 17	-	19	0.000 t
Digital Input 18		20	0.000 t



30

There are also two Relay Outputs that can be toggled On/Off or configured as an alarm output.

Relay Output				
Name	Status			
Relay Output 1	Off toggle			
Relay Output 2	Off toggle			

NOTE: The DI and RO settings must be configured in Acuview software.

6.4 Logs

Click on the 'Logs' tab to visit the metering logs web pages.

There are five kinds of logs that can be viewed, they are "Trend Log", "Trendlog Management", "Data Log, "Alarm Log", and "Event Log".

Each web page shows data from the AcuRev 2100 meter series meter.

tering Basic M	Trend Log								
	Data Log Alarm Log	System							
	Event Log	System Parameter	A		c	Total	Average		
		Line-to-Neutral Voltage v	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000		
		Line-to-Line Voltage V	11.916	10.520	0.000		7.479		
		Current A	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000		
		Active Power ktil	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
		Reactive Power loar	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
		Apparent Power xva	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
		Power Factor	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000			
		Load Nature	R	R	R	R			
		Frequency Hz			0.000				



6.4.1 Trend Log

The Trend Log web page includes the real-time and energy trend diagram. The real-time trend log diagram can be selected to show the following parameters phase voltage, line voltage, current, active power, reactive power, apparent power and power factor for each phase as well as the totals. The energy trend log shows the imported and exported active energy, reactive energy, total energy, net energy and apparent energy.

The data of the trend log can be previewed and downloaded as a .csv file by clicking the 'Data Review' and 'Data' icons on the right top side of the diagram. The trend log diagram can also be saved as an image by clicking the 'Image' icon. See the icons outlined (red box) in the image below.



Hint: Drag mouse on chart to zoom in selected area





6.4.1.1 Real-Time Parameters

The real-time parameters can be trended at different time intervals depending on the Time Frame selected. Listed below are the time intervals for each possible time frame setting:

Time Frame	Time Intervals
Last 1 Hour	1 minute
Last 30 days	1 hour 1 day
Last Month	1 hour 1 day
Last 10 minutes	15 seconds 1 minute
Today	15 seconds 1 hour
Yesterday	15 seconds 1 hour
Last 7 days	15 minutes 1 hour 1 day
Custom Range	Dependent on range specified







6.4.1.2 Energy

Similarly, the energy parameters can be trended at different time intervals depending on the Time Frame selected. The table below displays the time intervals:

Time Frame	Time Intervals
Last 10 minutes	15 seconds 1 minute
Last 1 Hour	1 minute
Today	15 seconds 1 hour
Yesterday	15 seconds 1 hour
Last 7 days	15 minutes 1 hour 1 day
Last 30 days	1 hour 1 day
This Month	1 hour 1 day
Last Month	1 hour 1 day
Last Year	1 day 1 month
Custom Range	Dependent on range specified






Chapter 6: Web Interface Readings and Parameter Settings

6.4.2 Data Log

The data log web page includes all the data files for three different loggers and AcuCloud.

Users can select the different loggers by clicking the logger tab. After the logger is selected, the log file for this logger will show on the screen with the update time and file size. To download the file, click on the download icon to save the file on the computer. The data log will be saved as a compressed CSV file.

To delete the data logs users can check the box next to the data log file and click on the 'Delete Selected' button at the bottom of the page.

Users will be prompted by a window asking to confirm the data log delete.

NOTE: Deleting the data log is permanent, this cannot be undone once deleted.





	File	Update	Size
	EHM20080085-logger1-2020-12-12700-00-00-0500-1min-backup.csv.gz 🛓	Dec 12 00:00	16 KB
	EHM20080085-logger1-2020-12-13T00-00-00-0500-1min-backup.csv.gz 🛓	Dec 13 00:00	12 KB
	EHM20080085-logger1-2020-12-14T00-00-00-0500-1min-backup.csv.gz 🛓	Dec 14 00:00	12 x8
	EHM20080085-logger1-2020-12-15T00-00-00-0500-1min-backup.csv.gz 🛓	Dec 15 00:00	24 KB
	EHM20080085-logger1-2020-12-22T00-00-00-0500-1min-backup.csv.gz 🛓	Dec 22 00:00	20 KB

6.4.3 Alarm Log

The Alarm Log web page provides the user with a summary of the alarm events that have occurred with the meter. It will show the status of up to 16 alarm events indicating the alarm ID, status, parameter, value that exceeded or went below the threshold and the timestamp of the alarm event.

Once all 16 alarm events are full, the newest alarm event will then wrap around to alarm 1. The parameters in the alarm status web page are updated every 10 seconds.

Alarm Log				
Time Stamp	Alarm ID	Status	Alarm Channel	Value
2020-03-27 15:50:23:344	1	alarm	Frequency	50 Hz
2020-03-27 15:53:31:504	2	alarm	System Active Power	54.5
2020-03-27 15:56:14.818	3	alarm	Phase A Line-to-Neutral Voltage	44 %
2020-03-27 17:23:35:164	3	reset	Phase A Line-to-Neutral Voltage	0%
2020-03-27 17:23:35:241	1	reset	Frequency	0 Ha
2020-09-27 17:23:05:244	2	reset	System Active Power	0 N
2000-01-01 00:00:000	0	reset	Frequency	0 He
2000-01-01 00:00:00 000	0	reiet	Frequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00:00:00	0	reset	Irequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00:00:000	0	reset	Frequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00:00:000	0	reset	Frequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00:00:000	0	reset	Trequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00:00:00 000	0	reset	Frequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00:00:000	0	reset	Frequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00.00:000	0	reset	Prequency	0 Ha
2000-01-01 00:00:00	0	reset	Frequency	0 Ha
2000-01-01 00:00:00 000	0	reset	Frequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00:00:00 000	0	reset	Frequency	0 Hz
2000-01-01 00:00:000	0	reset	Frequency	0 He
2000-01-01 00:00:00 000	0	reset	Frequency	0 Hz

6.4.4 Event Log

The event log web page will display the event log that involved in the parameter and setting changes.

The event log parameters are updated every 10 sec.





6.4.5 Trendlog Management

The trendlog management page allows the user to download data from the meter's data base. The trendlog management page acts as a back up to the data logs for users.

Log Param Type: Users can select which data they want to download from the meter. In the drop down menu there is a timestamp range to show the available data.

NOTE: Energy data will remain in meter data base for up to years, whereas all other metering data will remain in the meter data base for up to 1 month before overriding.

The log file will be downloaded as a .gz file and will need to be unzipped in order to view the csv file.

Log Trend Log Management			
	Log Param		
	Log Parameter Type"		
	Energy (2021-01-21 - 2021-05-11) (2021-0	01-21 - 0	
	Not selected	Selected	
	mpot kastile foregy Appenent foregy	Leve-S-March (100g) Leve-S-March (100g) Addit Truer Addit Truer International Addit Truer International Addit Truer International Addit International International Additional Additional International Additional Additional International Additional Additional International Additional Additional Additional Additional International Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional International Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional International Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional International Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional International Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional Additional International Additional Additi	
	Log Interval*		
	1 minute	•	
	Start Time"	End Time"	
	2021/04/23	a 2021/05/11 a	
	Log File		
	Trend log file is ready. (Generating new fil	lle will delete current file)	



6.4.5.1 Clear Logs

The clear logs function allows the user to clear and remove all metering data stored on the module database. This will allow users to clear all readings and historical data without resetting all features and functions. Users can clear the logs by clicking on the button at the bottom of the Trendlog page.

Log File
Trend log file is ready. (Generating new file will delete current file) Filename: EHM20080085-2021-05-11116-34-59-0400-1min.csv.gz × Note: File size is 79.74 KB, delete file to free up disk space.
Generate File Clear Logs

To clear the logs click on "Clear Logs", a warning message is displayed notifying users that this action is irreversible once done.

	Leer Warning	×	
Log Interval*	All trend log data and unsaved local data log recor This action is irreversible.	rds will be deleted.	
start Time*	End Time*		
2021/04/23	a 2021/05/11		
Log File			
Trend log file is ready. (Generating new fil Filename: EHM20080085-2021-05-11T16-3 Note: File size is 79.74 KB , delete file to free	i4-59-0400-1min.csv.gz 🔀		

NOTE: This cannot be undone, once the trend log is cleared all data in meter database is cleared.



38

6.5 About

The About tab located at the top right corner of the web interface allows users to view the Device Information page. Users can view the meter's information and also configure the installation records.

6.5.1 Information

This page provides users with information about the AcuRev 2100 series meter and the built in WEB2 module. The Device Information contains the model of the AcuRev 2100 meter, serial number, firmware version and the meter addresses. It also contains the serial number, firmware version, hardware version and the MAC addresses of the AcuRev 2100 web module.

		🕪 Logout Tuesday. May 11, 2021 4:37 PM 🚺 About 💠 Setting Acu	Nev 2100 ACCUENER6
nformation Installation Record			
ormation			
	Meter		
	Meter Model	AcuRev 2110-mV-WE82	
	Meter Hardware Version.	V1.02	
	Meter Firmware Version	v1.10	
	Meter Release Date	2020-09-28	
	Meter Serial Number	EHM20080085	
	Meter Seal Status	Off	
	Meter Address	1	
	Device Description	v0.12 TEST	
	Display Module		
	Display Model	SC01	
	Display Hardware Version	v1.02	
	Display Firmware Version	v1.10	
	Display Release Date	2020-09-28	
	Web Module		
	Module Hardware Version	v1.01	
	Module Firmware Version	v1.06	
	Module Ethernet 0 MAC Address	EC.C3/8A/6037/41	
	March in Pilesman 7 MAR ^a Address	Protection Test	

6.5.2 Installation Record

The installation record allows users to enter in details for the meter regarding the installation. Information such as the wiring, rated voltage/current, meter location, installer, etc, can be filled out. Installation records allow installers to keep track and document all information regarding the initial installation and commissioning of the meter. Users can select the "Edit" button to fill in all information in the installation record.





Center Accumung Canada Inc. Installation Data 2021-04.23 Advess 2 Lansing Squares Taronts, OH and Advess Taronts of the Squares Taronts, OH and Taronts of the Squares Taronts, OH and Taronts of the Squares Taronts, OH and Standa Taronts of the Squares Taronts of the Squares Taronts of the Standa Taronts of the Squares Taronts of the Taronts of the Squares Taronts of the Standa Taronts of the Squares Taronts of the Standa Squares Taronts of the Squares Taronts of the Squ	Client Information		Installation Information		Save
Meter Location Laboratory Device Information Acader 210 ent/ VBE2 Normal VMage (%) 120/00V Smalt Number PRMADD0005 Normal VMage (%) 120/00V Ethermer 1 MAC Address ECCEMAND724 Roman Current (A) 200 Ethermer 2 MAC Address 0025AC28260F Romana Frequency (%) 40	Client	Accuenergy Canada Inc.	Installation Date	2021-04-23	
Device Information Acular 2116 mV VEE2 Nomma Voltage (V) 120100V Smith Number Perud000055 Nomma Voltage (V) 120100V Demert VMA Address ECCIAMA037141 Roman Current (J0 200 Demert VMA Address ECCIAMA037144 Roman Current (J0 200 WH MAC Address 0025AC282607 Roman Frequency (M) 60	Address	2 Lansing Square, Toronto, Ontario, M	Installer Name	Technician A	
Media Addre 115 work1822 Nermatr Voltage (r) 100007 Insur Aurorita COLLAND/DDA Nermatr Voltage (r) 200 Insure I VMC Adversa ECC2AMD/DDA Nermatr Voltage (r) 200 Instrume I VMC Adversa ECC2AMD/DDA Nermatr Voltage (r) 200 Instrume I VMC Adversa ECC2AMD/DDA Nermatr Voltage (r) 200 VMI VMC Adversa ECC2AMD/DDA Nermatr Voltage (r) 200 VMI VMC Adversa ECC2AMD/DDA Nermatr Voltage (r) 200			Meter Location	Laboratory	
Senial Number Debloctions Normal Voltage (V) Tot/DOV Ethernet I MAC Address ECC/38.46327/41 Normal Current (A) 200 Ethernet I MAC Address ECC/38.46327.42 Normal Current (A) 200 With MAC Address 002.5C/28.26.007 Normal Frequency (M) 60	Device Information				
Senit Number DMI000005 Ethernet I Moc Address ECCIMA052744 Nonnal Current (A) 200 Ethernet J Moc Address ECCIMA052742 Nonnal Current (A) 200 WI Moc Address 0025/C428405 Nonnal Frequency (M) 60	Meter Model	AcuRev 2110-mV-WE82	Manning Maltings 60	130/00M	
Ethernet 2 MAC Address ECC38A403742 Will MAC Address 0225C282680F Nominal Frequency 910 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60	Serial Number	EHIM20080085	Homman Honage (F)	TEWENDY	
WHF MAC Address 00235CA28685F Nominal Frequency (ht) 60	Ethernet 1 MAC Address	EC:C3:8A:60:37:41	Nominal Current (A)	200	
Sel Sana Off	Ethernet 2 MAC Address	EC:C3:8A:60:37:42			
Seal Status Off Service Configuration 3 Flamment 4 Mine Y 8	WiFi MAC Address	00-25:CA-28:68:0F	Nominal Frequency (Hz)	60	
	Seal Status	on		2 Element & Mire V	

The installation record also allows for more detailed description of the CT user channels and circuits connected to the AcuRev 2100 meter.

Meter Point	Channel ID	Phase	Color Code	CT Model	CT Serial Number	CT Ratio	Panel Description
	Input Channel 1	A 🕈	Yellow	RCT16-1000A		1000A:	
User Channel 1	Input Channel 2	в 🕈	Green	RCT16-1000A		1000A:	Motor
	Input Channel 3	C \$	Red	RCT16-1000A		1000A:	
	Input Channel 4	Disabled \$				1000A:	
User Channel 2	Input Channel 5	в 🕈				1000A:	Cooling Fan
	Input Channel 6	Disabled \$				1000A:	
	Input Channel 7	Select - 🗢				1000A:	
User Channel 3	Input Channel 8	Select - 🗢				1000A:	
	Input Channel 9	Select - 🗢				20A:	

The communication information is also displayed in the installation record, this section shows the network related settings such as RSTP enable, IP1/IP2, WIFI, Modbus and BACnet settings.



40

Communication Information

RSTP Enabled	Disabled		
Ethernet 1 DHCP	Manual		
Ethernet 1 IP	192.168.1.209	Ethernet 1 Status	Enabled
Ethernet 2 DHCP	Auto		
Ethernet 2 IP	192.168.1.253	Ethernet 2 Status	Disabled
WiFi Enable	Enabled		
WiFi Mode	AP	WiFi Status	Enabled
WiFi IP	192.168.100.1	WiFi SSID	ACUREV2100-WEB2-WIFI-EHM20080085
Modbus TCP Port	502		
Modbus RTU Baud Rate	19200 bps	Modbus RTU Address	1
BACnet/IP Enabled	Disabled		
BACnet/IP Port	47808	BACnet/IP ID	·

Once the installation record is completed with all necessary information, it can be downloaded as a PDF file. To download the installation record click on the button located on the top right of the page.

5 A 14			
Edit Client Information		Installation Information	Download Installation Record
Client	Accuenergy Canada Inc.	Installation Date	2021-04-23
Address	2 Lansing Square, Toronto, Ontario, M2J 4P8	Installer Name	Technician A
	4P0	Meter Location	Laboratory
Device Information			
Meter Model	AcuRev 2110-mV-WEB2	Nominal Voltage (V)	120/208V
Serial Number	EHM20080085	Nominal Current (A)	200
Ethernet 1 MAC Address	EC:C3:8A:60:37:41	Nominal Frequency (Hz)	60
Ethernet 2 MAC Address	EC:C3:8A:60:37:42	Service Configuration	3 Element 4 Wire Y
WiFi MAC Address	00:25:CA:28:68:0F	Pulse Constant (Pulses/kWh)	1000



6.6 Settings

6.6.1 Meter

The basic metering configurations needed to set up the meter can be applied from the web interface by clicking on the **Settings** and selecting the **Meter**. The meter settings page includes the following settings:

- **Device Description:** A description for the meter can be provided in this field which will display on the Dashboard page.
- Device Transformer: Users can select the secondary output of the CTs being used on the meter. Users can select RCT or 333mV for the mV model and 80mA/100mA/200mA for the mA model.

NOTE: Users cannot mix and match CTs, for example if users have the mV current input model they cannot mix and match RCT and 333mV CTs.

- Wiring of Three Phase User: Select the type of wiring that the meter will be monitoring from the modes available. Users can select 1LN, 2LN, 3LN.
- **CT Ratio:** Set the rating of the CT that is connected to the meter to measure the current for each channel. For example if a 200A:333mV CT is being used, "200" must be entered in the CT ratio setting.







AcuRev 2100 Series Power Meter: Web Manual

Chapter 7: Communications

7.1 Network 7.2 Email 7.3 Time/Date 7.4 Data Log 7.5 Post Channel 7.6 AcuCloud 7.7 BACnet/IP 7.8 SNMP 7.9 MQTT 7.10 Remote Access

Chapter 7: Communications

The communication setting web page will allow the user to configure settings related to the Ethernet networks and the Wireless network. The functions and protocols that the AcuRev 2100 supports can be configured by selecting the corresponding tab such as Emails, Time/Date, Datalog, AcuCloud Post for communicating with the AcuCloud software, BACnet-IP, SNMP.

7.1 Network

The first page the user will see after selecting the Communications option under the Settings tab is the Network page. The network settings allow users to configure all network-related settings including both Ethernet 1 and Ethernet 2 as well as WiFi.

7.1.1 RSTP Protocol

The AcuRev 2100-WEB2 supports the RSTP protocol where users can daisy chain the Ethernet ports on the WEB2 module to a network switch.

Users can configure the meter's IP manually or by setting the DHCP set as Auto.

			🕪 Loosut	Tuesday, May 11, 2021 5:02 PM	() About	t Setting	AcuRev 2100	AFFIENEDEY
Meter Communication Management	Network Diagnostic Firmware Config Manage	ment			-			,
	Network Network IPv6 Email Date & T	ime Data Log Post Channel AcuCloud	BACHEUTP SNMP MQTT	Remote Access				
	RSTP							
	RSTP Enable							
	O Disable							
	Note: Two R345 ports are configurable with separate networks							
	Ethernet							
	Ethernet DHCP*							
	Manual Auto							
	Ethernet IP Address*	Ethernet Subnet Mask*	Ethernet Gateway	e.				
	192.168.1.209	255-255-255.0	192.168.1.1					
	Defaulti 192.168.1.254 Multi be la address	Default; 255,255,255,0 Must be lp address	Default: 192.146.1.1 Must be to address					
	Ethernet Status: Connected							

NOTE: When the RSTP is enabled users will not be able to configure Ethernet 1 and Ethernet 2, there is only 1 IP per meter using RSTP protocol.





Network Topology

Users can can daisy chain up to 32 devices using the RSTP protocol. This can cut down the number of network switches required in different applications and allows the use of 1 network switch/router to be used with up to 32 devices. Each device can be accessed by configuring a unique IP address or having the IP addresses assigned automatically by the network.



7.1.2 Network Settings

The settings for the Ethernet 1 and Ethernet 2 are as follows:

• **Ethernet 1 DHCP**: Select 'Manual' to manually configure the IP address to access the meter. If set to 'Manual', you'll also need to set the Subnet Mask and Gateway. By default, the IP address for ETH1 will be 192.168.1.254. By default Ethernet port 1 is set to Manual. Select "Auto" to have the meter assigned an IP address automatically. With this selection, the Subnet Mask, and Gateway will also be automatically assigned.

NOTE: After changing DHCP to Auto, check the display of the meter (N02 NET Settings) to obtain the new IP address that has been assigned. The new IP address will be displayed only after a module reboot is performed and completed.





- **IP Address:** If the DHCP is configured to "Manual", the IP address can be configured from this page. Default is 192.168.1.254
- **Subnet Mask:** If the DHCP is configured to "Manual", the Subnet Mask can be configured from this page. Default is 255.255.255.0
- **Gateway:** If the DHCP is configured to Manual, the Gateway can be configured from this web page. Default is 192.168.1.1

The status of the Ethernet 1 port will display if it is connected or disconnected.

• **Ethernet 2 DHCP:** By default, the Ethernet 2 port is configured to have its DHCP set to "Auto". If configured to "Manual" the default Manual IP address is 192.168.1.253. Users can configure the IP address to any IP once the DHCP is configured for "Manual", users will also need to set the Subnet Mask and Gateway if using this method.

NOTE: The IP address of the Ethernet 2 can be found on page N12 of the NET Settings. The AcuRev 2100 meter protocol setting must be configured to AcuRev 2100 to view this from the meters NET settings.

- **IP Address**: By default, the IP address is configured by DHCP, this field will be grayed out. If the DHCP is configured to Manual, the IP address can be configured from this page.
- **Subnet Mask:** If the DHCP is configured to Manual, the Subnet Mask can be configured from this page.
- **Gateway:** If the DHCP is configured to Manual, the Gateway can be configured from this web page.

The status of the Ethernet 2 port will display if it is connected or disconnected.

ommunication Management	Network Diagnostic Firmware Config Manager	nent		
cation Network				
	Network Email Date & Time Data Log	Post Channel AcuCloud BACnet/IP SNMP	MQTT Remote Access	
	Ethernet 1			
	Ethernet 1 DHCP* Manual Auto Ethernet 1 IP Address	Ethernet 1 Subnet Mask	Ethernet 1 Gateway	
	192.168.1.149	255.255.255.0	192.168.1.1	
	Default: 192.166.1.254	Default 2552552550	Default: 192.168.1.1	
	Ethernet 1 Status: Disconnected			
	Ethernet 2			
	Ethernet 2 DHCP* Manual Auto Ethernet 2 IP Address 192,168,1.3			
	Ethernet 2 Status: Connected			



46

The AcuRev 2100 also supports WIFI communication where the WIFI setttings can also be configured on the Network settings page. The following WIFI settings are configurable from the interface:

- WiFi Enabled: Select the Enable or Disable communication through WiFi.
- **WiFi Mode:** The WiFi can be configured to work in two modes just like any other WIFI device. It can be configured as either Access Point (AP) or Station mode.
 - Access Point: Default configuration for AcuRev 2100. The AcuRev 2100 will act as a wireless
 access point and will allow other wireless devices to connect and access the AcuRev 2100.

In Access Point mode, users can configure the SSID, Network Key and IP of the AcuRev 2100 as well as the DHCP DNS servers.

• Station: The AcuRev 2100 will behave like a wireless client and bridge to another wireless network that is available.

In Station mode, users can select the Wireless network to connect to under the "Connect to SSID" setting. Click on "Select from Available Networks" and enter the Network Key for the wireless network that the AcuRev 2100 will bridge to.

If users are connecting to an open Wireless network that is not password protected, the password field can be left blank.

AcuRev 2100 also supports Enterprise WiFi, where users can connect using an enterprise-level WiFi network which is common in many colleges/universities, hospitals, etc. If connecting to an enterprise-level WiFi network, select enable for "WPA/WPA2-Enterprise". Once enabled users will see the username and password fields.

WIFI				
WiFi Enable*	WiFi Mode*			
O Disable	O AP			
 Enable 	STA			
Connect to SSID*		Network Key		
AcuRev2000_TES1	SSID List		88	
Maximum 32 characters		Between 8 and 63 characters		
WiFi DHCP*				
Manual				
Auto				
		WiFi Subnet Mask*	WiFi Gateway*	
O Auto WiFi IP Address* 192.168.2.38		WiFi Subnet Mask* 255.255.255.0	WiFi Gateway* 192.168.2.1	





In station mode the DHCP can be configured as either manual or auto.

- If manual, users can configure the IP, Subnet Mask and Gateway and DNS Servers.
- If auto, users can check the meter's display to get the IP address and all other network configurations assigned by the wireless network. The user can also configure the DNS servers if the DHCP is set to Auto.

NOTE: The WiFi IP address for the AcuRev 2100 will be in parameter N11 of the NET settings.

- **DNS Server 1:** Enter the address of DNS server 1 in this field. Default DNS1 is 8.8.8.8
- **DNS Server 2:** Enter the address of DNS server 2 in this field. Default DNS2 is 8.8.4.4
- **HTTPS Port:** Enter the HTTPS port number of the meter. By default, this setting is configured to 443. The range can be from 6000 to 9999.
- **HTTP Enable:** Enable HTTP so the AcuRev 2100 can be accessed through the HTTP protocol, by default the HTTP port is 80 but it can be configured from 6000-9999.
- **Modbus TCP Port:** Enter the Modbus port number of the meter. By default, this setting is configured to 502. The range can be from 2000 to 5999.
- **Proxy Server Enable:** Select enable to allow for forwarding of data log files to pass through the Proxy server first and then the data post server. (i.e., AcuCloud)

DNS	
DNS Server 1	DNS Server 2
8.8.8.8	8.8.4.4
Default 8.8.8.8	Default 8.8.4.4
Must be ip address	Must be ip address
нттр	
HTTP Enable*	
O Disable	
O Enable	
HTTPS Port*	
443	
Default: 443	
Default: 443, Range: 6000 - 9999	
Modbus	
Modbus TCP Port*	
502	
Default: 502	
Default: 502, Range: 2000 - 5999	
Proxy	
HTTP Proxy Enable*	
O Disable	
O Enable	





After making any changes on the network settings page, click 'Save'. Users will be prompted to reboot the AcuRev 2100 immediately or later. If later is chosen the AcuRev 2100 will need to be rebooted from the 'Management' page in order for the settings to take effect.

7.2 IPv6

The AcuRev 2100-WEB2 module supports IPv6 communication where users can use IPv6 to access the web interface. The settings for IPv6 can be accessed by clicking on Settings and selecting the Communications tab. On the Communications page select the "Network IPv6" tab to configure the settings.

IPv6 Enable: Enable to access the settings for IPv6

Ethernet DHCP: This can be set to manual or auto.

- When set to Manual, users must configure the IPv6 address, the Subnet Prefix Length, and the Gateway.
- When set to Auto, the network will assign an IPv6 address automatically.

Ethernet Link Local Address: Is an IPv6 address that is automatically configured on the device with prefix 'fe80' followed by the MAC address of the module.

Ethernet Status: Displays whether there is an Ethernet cable connected or disconnected.







7.3 Email

The AcuRev 2100 supports the SMTP protocol where users can configure the meter to send emails based on a specific time interval or whenever there is an alarm, System Event or a combination of both. The Email configuration page can be accessed by clicking on the **Email** tab under **Communications**.

There are three modes available for sending emails that the user can enable.

The first mode is **Real Time Email Reporting** where emails are sent immediately when there is a new alarm, or System event.

The second mode is **Periodic Email Reporting** where users can receive emails at a certain period of time based on the time interval configured. The email will include the data that is selected to be sent.

The third mode is when both of the above are enabled.

Users must know their SMTP server provider and details regarding their SMTP server, which can be provided by the user's IT personnel.

The following settings must be configured for email reporting:

- **SMTP Enabled:** Select 'Enable' to enable and to further configure the settings related to the SMTP function.
- Start Time to Send Email: Select the date and time for when the emails should begin to send.
 - · Click on the icon to configure the time and date.
 - Click on the icon in the bottom right to clear the time and date.

_							#
<		м	ay 201	9		>	
Su	Мо	Tu	We	Th	Fr	Sa	
28	29	30	1	2	3	4	
5	6	7	8	9	10	11	
12	13	14	15	16	17	18	
19	20	21	22	23	24	25	
26	27	28	29	30	31	1	
2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
	C				Û		





- **SMTP Server:** Enter the URL of a valid SMTP server. (i.e., mail.accuenergy.com or smtp. gmail.com)
- **SMTP Port:** Enter the port number associated with the SMTP server.
- **SMTP From:** Enter a name or phrase which will appear to let you know who the mail is from. (i.e., "Technical Support")
- **SMTP Subject:** Enter a subject line for the emails
- **Authentication:** Users can have email authentication on or off. If authentication is on users will need to provide the SMTP username and password.
 - **SMTP Username:** Enter the SMTP user name for the SMTP server set above.
 - **SMTP Password:** Enter the SMTP user password for the username set above.
- TLS/SSL: Users have the option to send emails using TLS/SSL protocols

ication Email				
	Network Email Date & Time	Data Log Post Channel AcuCloud BAC	et/IP SNMP Remote Access	
	SMTP Enable*			
	Disable Disable Disable			
	Server			
	Email Send Start Time*	SMTP Server*	SMTP Port*	
	2020/03/27 03:11 PM	asl.digitalhosting.ca	507	
		Maximum 40 characters	Range: 1 - 65525	
	SMTP From*	SMTP Subject*		
	ryan@accuenergy.com	AcuRev 2100 v1.00 Test		
	Maximum 45 characters	Maximum 30 characters		
	User			
	Authentication" Off On			
	SMTP Username*	SMTP Password*	100 Aug.	
	ryan@accuenergy.com		38.	
	Maximum 40 characters	Maximum 32 characters		
	TLS/SSL*			
	Ooff			

- **SMTP To Address 1/2/3:** Enter up to three recipients that you wish to have the email sent to in "SMTP To Address 1/2/3".
- Test Address 1/2/3: Test the if the email can be sent to "SMTP To Address 1/2/3".

NOTE: *If the test address function fails, users can view the email post-failure by clicking on the 'Details' option from the test post screen.*





After configuring the above settings, the next step is to select the content for the emails.

SMTP To Address 1*	SMTP To Add	ress 2	SMTP To Address 3	
ryan@accuenergy.com	Test Enter SMTP	To Address 2 Te	st Enter SMTP To Address 3	Те
Maximum 40 characters	Maximum 40 cha	racters	Maximum 40 characters	
Periodic Email Reporting				
Set Time Interval*				
360				
Range: 5 - 1440				
Periodic Email Reporting				
Real Time	Energy Data	Alarms	Demand	
System Event	DI			
Real-Time Email Reporting				
Alarm Event	System Event			

The content of the emails can either be time-based triggered or event-based triggered.

For receiving emails on a time based under Enable Periodic Email Reporting:

Enter a time between 5-1440 mins in the Set time interval

- Check off the box beside the parameters for the content the user should receive.
 - Real Time: Report on Real-time voltage, current, power and etc.
 - Energy Data: Report on energy parameters.
 - Alarm: Report of the alarm log.
 - Demand: Report demand data.
 - System Event: Report of the SOE log.
 - DI: Report DI status/counters.

The user will receive an email report in a CSV file attachment. The report will include the readings and/or the real time triggered event.





7.4 Time/Date

The device clock of the AcuRev 2100 meter series meter can be set through the web interface of the AcuRev 2100. The AcuRev 2100 supports NTP (Network Time Protocol) so that the module can update the meter's device clock by synchronizing with a time server.

The module can sync with up to three time servers. If a time server is down, the module will synchronize with the second or the third time server if they are configured.

The settings for the time and date can be found by clicking on **Settings** and selecting the **Communications** tab. Users can select **Date & Time** to configure the time settings.

The following must be configured to set the time/date and NTP settings:

- **NTP Enabled:** Select enable to further configure the settings related to the NTP (Network Time Protocol) function
- Device Clock: Configure the date and time on the meter
 - Click on the icon to configure the date and time.



• Click on the icon in the bottom right to clear the time and date.



- Sync Time: Click on Force Update to have the AcuRev 2100 sync its time with the NTP server
- NTP Server 1/2/3: Enter up to 3 NTP servers in the "NTP Server 1", "NTP Server 2" and "NTP Server 3"

0.us.pool.ntp.org 1.us.pool.ntp.org 2.us.pool.ntp.org 3.us.pool.ntp.org





For more NTP servers based on region, visit the following site: http://www.pool.ntp.org/en/

• **Time Zone:** Select the time zone the meter is in or the time zone in which you would like the meter's time to be synchronized to from the drop-down list. Users can also select the time zone by clicking on the region on the map.

Click "Save" after configuring the time settings. Users will be prompted to reboot the AcuRev 2100 immediately or later. If later is chosen the AcuRev 2100 must be rebooted from the "Management" page in order for the settings to take effect.



7.5 Data Log

The AcuRev 2100 supports logging data onto its onboard memory, where the module has 8GB of memory.

The module supports three loggers for different parameters and requirements.

The data can be downloaded as a .csv file from the "data log" page in the logs section or by using an HTTP/FTP client.

- **Logger Enable**: To use the data log function to log the data onto the module, select 'Enable' to view and configure the settings that are applicable.
- **Post Channel:** Select the channel to push the data log to an external HTTP/FTP server. Only an enabled post channel can be selected here. A post channel can be enabled in the 'Post Channel' tab on the settings page.





• Log Param Type: Users can select the type of parameters they wish to log into logger.

Use the '>' button to add selected parameters into the data log and use the '<' button to remove selected parameters from the data log. Users can also use the 'All' or 'Clear' buttons to add all or clear all parameters to and from the data log. The supported parameter types include real-time readings, energy readings, demand readings, power quality readings and I/O readings.

Meter Com	munication	Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	ware Config Management	
Communicati	on Data Log					
Communicati	On Data Log				Network Endit 00 bits Log 2 Data Log 2 Data Log 2 Data Log 2 Data Log 2 Logger Entaile* Double Traite Data Log 2 <li< th=""><th></th></li<>	

- **Timestamp Format:** Select the format of the timestamp for the data that is logged. The format for the timestamp can be based on the Local Time, UTC Seconds or based on ISO8601 Format.
- Log File Name Format: Select the format of the log file name for the data that is logged. The format for the log file name can be based on the UTC timestamp or based on Time Interval Format.
- **Log Interval:** Select how frequently the meter will log data to the file that will be uploaded to the server from the drop-down list. The logging interval can be from 1 second to 1 month. The minimum time interval option is according to the selected parameter.
- The Real-time & I/O's minimum Log Interval is 15 seconds
- The Energy's minimum Log Interval is 1 minute
- The Demand & Power Quality's minimum Log Interval is 1 min





NOTE: If the selected parameters are Real-time and I/O, the minimum log interval is 15 seconds. If the selected parameters are Real-time and Energy, the minimum log interval is 1 minute.

- **Post File Length:** Select how frequently the log file will be uploaded to the server from the drop-down list The log file length can be from 1 minute to 1 month.
- Log File Name Prefix: Provide a name for the log file posted to the post channel which will be appended to the beginning of the log file. By default "logger1" will be appended to the beginning of the log file.
- Local Log File Length: Select the length of the local log file as 1 hour, 1 day, 7 days or 1 month of data from the drop-down list.
- Local Log File Name Prefix: Provide a name for the local log file which will be appended to the beginning of the log file. By default "logger1" will be appended to the beginning of the log file.

NOTE: The Post File Length and Local Log File Length must be less than or equal to the log interval selected.

fimestamp Format*				
Local Time String e.g. 2017-01-01 1				
UTC Seconds Number of seconds the		nce 1970-01-01 00:00:00 Coordinated Univ	ersal Time	
ISO8601 Format e.g. 2017-01-01T10	0:00-0500			
og File Name Format*				
UTC Timestamp e.g. logger1-14845	78000.csv			
Time Interval Format e.g. logger1-2	2017-01-10T12-00	-3day.csv		
.og Interval*		Log File Length*		Log File name Prefix*
15 seconds	۰	1 minute	٥	logger1
				Between 1 and 40 characters
ocal Log File Length*		Local Log File name Prefix*		
Second State Stat	.]	-		
1 day	٥	logger1		
		Between 1 and 40 characters		
TP Enable*				
Disable				
Enable				
twork Key				
nter Network Key	Reset			
ault password: accuenergy				
úmum 12 characters				
ave				





• **SFTP Enable:** To download the logged data from the module using an FTP client, select Enable. The log file will then be available to be downloaded using an FTP client using the following credentials:

Host: sftp://IPaddressofthemeter Username: sftpuser SFTP Password: accuenergy Port: 22

By default the password for retrieving the backup log files is **accuenergy**. The user can configure any password or can reset to the default of accuenergy by clicking on the "Reset SFTP Password".

NOTE: After enabling the SFTP function the user must reboot the communication module in order to access the data logs with the default password of 'accuenergy'.

Click 'Save' after changing any settings. Users will be prompted to reboot the AcuRev 2100 immediately or later. If later is chosen, the AcuRev 2100 must be rebooted from the 'Management' page in order for the changes to take effect.

7.6 Post Channel

The AcuRev 2100 supports the HTTP, FTP, and SFTP Post functions to send data from the meter to an HTTP/SFTP/FTP server. The AcuRev 2100 can post .csv files to three different servers using the post channels.

In the case when there is no connection to the server, the AcuRev 2100-WEB2 will store the posts and send it out after the connection is restored. The module can store up to 3GB of cache post files. The Clear Post Channel Logs button will allow users to clear the buffered files on meter.

The AcuRev 2100 can post data to a server at intervals of time ranging from 1 minute to 1 month.

The settings for configuring the post channels to post the data can be found by clicking on **Settings** and then selecting the **Communications** tab. Click **Post Channels** to configure any of the three post channels.

• **Post Channel 1/2/3 Enable:** Enable the Post Channel 1 in order to configure the settings needed to post data via the HTTP(S)/FTP post functions





- **Post Method:** Select the method for posting the files, the user can choose HTTP/HTTPS or FTP
- **Post Name Fixed:** This configuration needs to be enabled in order for the user to control the name of the file that will be posted. Otherwise, the file name will be based on the Log File Name Format configuration from the Data Log settings
- **Post File Name:** Users can enter a name for the file that will be posted as if 'Post Name Fixed' is enabled

If the HTTP/HTTPs post method is selected:

- HTTP/HTTPS URL: Enter the URL for the HTTP/HTTPS server. The URL needs to begin with the prefix http:// or https://
- **HTTP/HTTPS Port:** Enter the port number the server will be listening on
- **HTTP/HTTPS Meter ID:** Enter a name or description for the meter to be identified on the server
- **HTTP/HTTPS Authentication Method**: If the HTTP server requires some sort of password/authorization in order to send files users can enter that under the token field.
 - Default authorization: requires a password/token to be entered for the server
 - Basic authentication: requires a user name and password for the server

If the FTP post method is selected:

- FTP URL: Enter the URL for the FTP server. The URL needs to begin with the prefix ftp://
- FTP Port: Enter the port number the server will be listening on
- **FTP Username:** Enter the username required to log into the FTP server
- **FTP Password:** Enter the password required to log into the FTP server

If the SFTP post method is selected:

- SFTP URL: Enter the URL for the SFTP server. The URL needs to begin with the prefix sftp://
- SFTP Port: Enter the port number the server will be listening on
- SFTP Username: Enter the username required to log into the SFTP server





• SFTP Password: Enter the password required to log into the SFTP server

NOTE: The 'TEST Post Channel' button should only be utilized after clicking the 'Save' button otherwise a fail response will be observed. If a fail response occurs after clicking 'Save' confirm the network settings or credentials for the server.

Click 'Save' after changing any settings. Users will be prompted to reboot the AcuRev 2100 immediately or later. If later is chosen the AcuRev 2100 must be rebooted from the 'Management' page in order for the settings to take effect.

Network Email Date	& Time Data Lo	og Post Channel AcuCloud BA	Inet/IP SNMP Remote Access	
Post Channel 1 Post Cha	innel 2 Post Ch	annel 2		
Post Channel Enable*	ingre router			
Disable Enable Cannot be disabled while in use. (Used Post Method*	i by Data Log 1, Data Lo	g 2, Data log 3)		
HTTP/HTTPS				
Post Name Fixed*	Post File	Name		
 Disable Enable 	Enter P	ost File Name		
HTTP/HTTPS URL*		HTTP/HTTPS Port*	HTTP/HTTPS Meter ID*	
http://18.188.85.147/post		800	ITEST	
URL begins with http:// or https://		Range: 0 - 65535		

7.7 AcuCloud

The AcuRev 2100 can directly interface with the Accuenergy Cloud software AcuCloud, where the meter can post data to the cloud every five minutes.

AcuCloud will require the serial number of the AcuRev 2100 which will then provide a token that will be used to configure the AcuRev 2100 so it can send its data to AcuCloud.

The settings for the AcuCloud post function can be found by clicking on the **Settings** tab and selecting **Communications**. Select **AcuCloud** to access the settings to configure the AcuRev 2100 to send data to the cloud.

- **AcuCloud Enable:** Select 'Enable' to enable the function and to further configure the settings related to AcuCloud.
- AcuCloud Token: Copy and paste the token provided by the AcuCloud software into this field.





NOTE: The "TEST AcuCloud" button should only be utilized after clicking the 'Save' button otherwise a fail response will be observed. If a fail response occurs after clicking 'Save', please double-check the serial number entered in AcuCloud, the token pasted in the web page as well viewing the test post details by clicking on the 'Details' option.

Users can use the 'Link to AcuCloud' to access the cloud software and configure the required settings on that platform. Users must have sufficient access to add devices on their account in order to correctly configure the meter on the software.

NOTE: For inquiries on creating your AcuCloud account please contact Accuenergy Technical Support.

Click 'Save' after changing any settings. Users will be prompted to reboot the AcuRev 2100 immediately or later. If later is chosen the AcuRev 2100 must be rebooted from the 'Management' page for the settings to take effect.

The AcuRev 2100 will post the data continuously every 5 minutes after the reboot.



7.8 BACnet/IP

60

The AcuRev 2100 supports the BACnet/IP protocol. The settings for the BACnet/IP protocol can be found on the web by clicking on the Settings tab and selecting Communications. Once on the communications page select BACnet/IP to access the settings to configure the AcuRev 2100 to communicate with a BACnet client.



- **BacNet Enabled:** Select Enable to enable the BACnet protocol.
- **BACnet Port:** Enter the BACnet or UDP port number. The default port is 47808.
- **Device Instance:** Enter the instance number for the device in the BACnet system. It must be unique within the system.
- Device Name: Enter a name for the device to distinguish it from other devices within the network.

r Communication Management Network Diagnostic	Firmware Config Management		
	Network Email Date & Time Data Log BACnet Enable* O Disable Enable	Post Channel AcuCloud EACnet/IP	SHUMP Remote Access
	BACnet Port*	Device Instance"	Device name
	47808	100	2100_WE82
	Default: 47808 Range: 47800 - 48000	Range: 0 - 4194302	Maximum 40 characters
	Location	Description	
	Enter Location	Enter Description	
	Mammon 42 characters Foreign Device Function*	Maximum 40 churactara	

Under the "*Enable Foreign Device Function*", select 'Enable' to communicate with a BACnet device from another subnet.

- Enter the IP of the BACnet Broadcast Management Device (BBMD) under the '*BBMD IP*' field for the device which will receive broadcast messages on one subnet and forward them to another subnet.
- Enter BACnet Port of the BBMD in "BBMD Port"
- Enter a value between 5-1440 min in the "Time To Live" for how often the foreign device will register in the BBMD's foreign device table.

Click 'Save' after changing any settings. Users will be prompted to reboot the AcuRev 2100 immediately or later. If later is chosen the AcuRev 2100 must be rebooted from the 'Management' page in order for the settings to take effect.





7.9 SNMP

The AcuRev 2100 supports the Simple Network Management Protocol (SNMP) for reporting the metering data to the management station. The AcuRev 2100 uses a public community string for read-only access. By default, the module will communicate using SNMP port 161.

The settings for the SNMP protocol can be found by clicking on the **Settings** tab and selecting **Communications**. From the communications page, select the **SNMP** tab to access the settings to configure the AcuRev 2100 for communication with an SNMP management station.

- **SNMP Enable:** Select 'Enable' to enable the function and to further configure the settings related to the SNMP protocol.
- **SNMP Port:** By default, the SNMP Port is configured to 161. The SNMP Port can be any value from ranging from 16100 to 16199.
- **Read Only Community:** By default the community string is Public, this configuration is similar to a password that allows only authorized users to access the meter's data.

Click 'Save' after changing any settings. Users will be prompted to reboot the AcuRev 2100 immediately or later. If later is chosen the AcuRev 2100 must be rebooted from the 'Management' page in order for the settings to take effect.

Meter Communication Management Network Diagno	stic Firmware Config Management		
	Network Email Date & Time Data Log	Post Channel AcuCloud BACnet/IP SNMP Remote Acce	255
	SNMP Enable"		
	 Disable Enable 		
	Read Only Community*	SNMP Port*	
	public	161	
	Between 6 and 20 characters	Default: 161 Default: 161, Range: 16100 - 16199	
	MIB File Download		
	Save		





7.10 MQTT

AcuRev 2100 supports the MQTT protocol where the gateway can publish device data to a subscriber using an MQTT broker. The MQTT broker is a central server where all MQTT clients would connect to. The broker/server manages all message topics and updates new messages to all clients that are subscribed to a particular topic. All related MQTT settings can be configured in the MQTT page under the Communication tab.

7.10.1 MQTT General Settings

Under the **General** tab in the MQTT page, users can enable the MQTT protocol and configure the broker settings.

- Enable MQTT: Select Enable to enable MQTT protocol
- Broker Address: Enter the broker address of the MQTT server
- Broker Port: Enter the port number for the MQTT Broker
- Client ID: Enter the Client ID for the AcuRev 2100; must be a unique ID number
- **Keep Alive:** The client communicates a time interval in seconds to the broker, "Keep-Alive" is the maximum length of time in seconds that the broker and the client cannot communicate with each other.
- Facility ID: Users can specify the facility ID

Once all settings are configured click *Save*. The connection to the broker can be tested by using the **Test MQTT** button.





AcuRev 2100 Series Power Meter: Web Manual

	Management Network Diagnostic Firmware Config Management
mmunication MQTT	
	Network Email Date & Time Data Log Post Channel AcuCloud BACnet/IP SNMP MQTT Remote Access
	General User Credential SSL/TLS Last Will and Testament Topic And Parameter Selection
	MQTT Enable*
	🖸 Enable 🕘 Disable
	Status: Disconnected
	Refresh Status
	Broker Address" Broker Port*
	tcp:// test.mosquitto.org 1883
	Client ID*
	v8rjyU0M53ubnQuRqIpG6MR Generate Client ID
	Keep Alive*
	60 s
	Clean Session*
	Ves O No
	Facility ID
	1
	Test MQT
	Save

7.10.2 MQTT Authentication

The User Credential tab allows users to configure a "User Name" and "Password" authentication if the broker is able to support it.

Meter Communication Management	Network Diagnostic Firmware Config Man	nagement
ommunication MQTT		
	Network Email Date & Time Data Log	g Post Channel AcuCloud BACnet/IP SNMP MQTT Remote Access
	General User Credential SSL/TLS Las	st Will and Testament Topic And Parameter Selection
	Username	Password
	Enter Username	Enter Password
	Save	

7.10.3 MQTT Encryption

The **SSL/TLS** tab allows users to use the MQTT protocol with encryption.

On this page, users will be able to upload the required certificate and key files.





ter Communication Management	Network Diagnostic Firmware Config N	lanagement	
munication MQTT			
	Network Email Date & Time Data	Log Post Channel AcuCloud BACnet/IP S	NMP MQTT Remote Access
	General User Credential SSL/TLS	Last Will and Testament Topic And Parameter Select	
	General User Credential SSL/TLS	Last Will and Testament Topic And Parameter Select	ion
	Enable SSL*		
	 Enable Disable 		
	CA File	Cert File	Key File
	Choose file Browse	Choose file Browse	Choose file Browse
	Save		

7.10.4 Last Will & Testament

The AcuRev 2100 supports Last Will and Testament messages via the MQTT protocol. These settings can be configured under the **Last Will & Testament** tab.

The last will and testament message are used to notify other clients regarding other disconnected clients. The message is an MQTT message that contains a topic, a QoS level and a payload.

- **Topic:** Refers to the path used to access the MQTT message.
- **QoS:** Stands for Quality of Service and refers to the reliability of the message delivery between the publisher and subscriber. There are three types of quality of service:
 - **QoS 0** is the lowest level, and is defined as "at most once" delivery. This level has the fastest message delivery but the success rate of delivery is not reliable.
 - **QoS 1** is defined as "at least once" delivery. These types of messages are reliable and are guaranteed, however, the messaged may be sent as duplicates several times.
 - QoS 2 Is the highest level, and is defined as "exactly once" delivery. These messages
 are more reliable and are guaranteed to be sent once without any duplicates. This
 type of messaging sends the most reliable message however it has a slower message
 delivery. Each client can optionally specify its own LWT message when it connects to a
 broker. The broker stores this message so that if the client disconnects ungracefully,
 the broker will send the disconnected client's LWT message to all the other clients that
 are subscribed to that last will message topic.





AcuRev 2100 Series Power Meter: Web Manual

Meter Communication Management	Network Diagnostic Firmware Con	fig Management
ommunication MQTT		
	Network Email Date & Time D	Data Log Post Channel AcuCloud BACnet/IP SNMP MQTT Remote Access
	General User Credential SSL/TLS	Last Will and Testament Topic And Parameter Selection
	Last Will Enable*	
	C Enable O Disable	
	Topic*	Qos*
	Enter Topic	Qos 0 ÷
	Retained*	Select Qos
	• Yes No	Qos 0
		Qos 1

7.10.5 Topic and Parameter Selection

Under the **Topic and Parameter Selection** tab users can configure the sending interval and devices data they want to publish to the broker.

- **Topic:** Users can enter the Topic, which is usually a base topic followed by the serial number of the device.
- **QoS:** Users can configure the quality of service level, where Qos 0 is the lowest level and Qos 2 is the highest level.
- **Retained:** Users have the option to retain messages or not. If a client retains messages that were published to the topic, a second client that is subscribed to the same topic will be able to see the retained message.

Users will need to specify the data they want to publish under the parameter selection box.





Network Email Date & Time Data Log Post Channel AcuCloud BACnet/IP SNMP MOTT Remote Access
General User Credential SSL/TLS Last Will and Testament Topic And Parameter Selection
Topic"
Enter Topic
Qos"
Qos 0 e
Relained* O tos Q ho Internal*
Parameter Type
Real-Time •
Not selected Selected
Line-to-Nucral Voltage Line Comm Active Power Apparent Power Power Rator Power Rator Prequency Load Type Cou

7.11 Remote Access

The AcuRev 2100 supports a remote access function that allows users to access the meters web interface remotely from anywhere using a special url. Users will have full functionality and access to all meter readings and settings with this function.

- **Remote Access Enable:** Select 'Enable' to enable the function and allow for Remote Access.
- Current Status: Will provide the user with a status of the Remote Access on whether it is "Registered" or "Unregistered".







Users can click on the 'Manual Register' button to register the remote access. The following page will be displayed.



NOTE: The module must be rebooted in order for the remote access connection to work properly.

- Registration Status: Displays the status as 'Registered' or 'Unregistered'
- Remote Access Information: Lets users know if the remote access status is online or offline.
- **Remote Access URL:** The URL used to access the meters web server remotely. This URL can be copied and shared with all users that require remote access.





68

AcuRev 2100 Series Power Meter: Web Manual

Chapter 8: Management

8.1 Parameter Reset

8.2 Reboot Meter & Communications Module

8.3 Change Password

8.4 SSH

8.5 Debug Diagnostic

8.6 Diagnostic File

Chapter 8: Management

8.1 Parameter Reset

The Management web page allows the user to clear and reset certain parameters in the meter. The following parameters can be reset from the Management page:

- Demand
- Energy
- Alarm Record
- Device Run Time
- API Token

Meter Communication Management Network Diagnostic Firmware	Config Management	
Management		
	Demand	
	Energy	
	Alarm Record	
	Web Module	Reboot
	Device Run Time	Reset
	d1aed4b9-e8be-4276-a1d6-dd2acc	
	API Token	Reset

8.2 Reboot Meter & Communications Module

Users can also reboot the web module and meter which is required after any communication or meter setting is changed if a module reboot is not performed the settings will not be saved to the meter and will go back to its default settings. This not only resets the communication module, it also performs a soft reboot on the AcuRev 2100 meter.

Web	Module
web	woulde



Reboot


8.3 Change Password

The access level passwords can be changed from the Management page as well, all new passwords must be 6 characters or more.

	Admin Current Password*			
	Enter Admin Current Password 🛛 🗞			
min Password	Admin New Passw			
	Enter Admin New Password 🛛 🗞			
	Save			
	View New Password*			
	Enter View New Password 🛛 🔌			

8.4 SSH

The AcuRev 2100 supports the SSH which can be enabled to allow users to remotely log into the meter using the SSH protocol. When enabled the status will show 'On', when disabled the status will show 'Off'.

SSH	Enable SSH
Current Status: Off	

8.5 Debug Diagnostic

The debug diagnostic allows the user to enable or disable the debug logs. The current status will say 'All off' if disabled, 'All On' if enabled.

All Disable All





Users can click on the advanced link, to turn on or off specific debug logs. If certain debug logs are enabled the current status will show 'Partial On'.

Meter	Communication	Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	Config Management		
Manag	ement Debug Diag	nostic					
					Rtu Server App Config Meter Database Data Log Modeus Serv SNMP Save Back To Managem	App Supervisor Transaction App Supervisor Reading Social Media Social Media Social Media Data Pert Modp BAChet Common	

NOTE: The system performance may be affected by enabling the debug logs.

8.6 Diagnostic File

The is a diagnostic file on the AcuRev 2100 that users can download which can be used to analyze the modules diagnostics.

NOTE: *Please send the diagnostic file to Accuenergy Technical Support (support@accuenergy.com) for analysis.*

Download Diagnostic File



72

AcuRev 2100 Series Power Meter: Web Manual

Chapter 9: Network Diagnostic

9.1 Network Status

9.2 Host Lookup

9.3 Connection Test



Chapter 9: Network Diagnostic

9.1 Network Status

The Network Diagnostic page can be used to monitor the network status of the module.

$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		k Status			
Image: Second states of the second states				Network	Status Host Lookup Connection Test
August and au				Ethernet N	letwork
Service					ine MortBLANLLAN EXETISLENTLAS MARTESSAN Media Mart Media Constant Media Songalia Media Mart Media Constant Media Media Mart Media Me
set and					TX packetsie ernosie oroppele Unernusie carrierie collisionie tungwelenielee RX bytesie (e.e B) TX bytesie (e.e B)
server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server server <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>10</td> <td>inet advorganza A.A.B. deta advorganza internetia deta a</td>				10	inet advorganza A.A.B. deta advorganza internetia deta a
Subject to the set of the set o				tunð	Inet adorisa.i.i.4 P-4-Pi8Li.1.4 Psk/153.555.6.0 Inet adori reloxi isobidesici.com/skr/94 SogerLink um PORPORDIR RUNDIN SNAMP MAITCAST RUTUSBe Interici: R packetsi-S450 errors:0 edropadi everrussi 0 errors:0 Th packetsi-4020 errors:0 edropadi everrussi 0 errorie:0 Cillisiosis t brownelen:000 Cillisiosis t brownelen:000
Name Parallel Parallel 0.0.4.0 0.0.4.0 0.0.0 0				wlane	Link encapi@thernet Hwaddr 00:25:ca:30:bc:6d
Balance Balance <t< td=""><td>Routing Table</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Routing Table				
Numeric: 0.4.2.4 Numeric: 0.4.2.4 State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State State	Destination 0.0.0.0	Gateway Germask 192.168.1.1 0.0.0.0 0.0.0.0 255.255.0	UG .0 U	150 0 0 0	0 eth0 0 tun0
	DNS Server				
Active Second Latence Second Latence Second Latence 101 0	nameserver 8.8	8.8			
Active Intervet connections (server, and extabilised) Fordure Accessitions (server, and extabilised) Term Server, Server, Server, Server, Server, Adversal, Server, Server	nameserver 8.8	.4.4			
Pice Back Bis J. Advance Bis J. Advance Bis J. Advance 101 0 </td <td>Network Stat</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Network Stat				
Kung B	Active Interne	connections (servers and	established)		
Kung B	Proto Recv-Q S	md-Q Local Address	Foreign A	ddress	
Kug B	tcp 0	0 0.0.0.0:3333	0.0.0.0:*		
Kug B		0 0.0.0.0:80	0.0.0.0:*		
tab 0		0 0.0.0.0:34000	0.0.0.0:*		
top e		0 0.0.0.0:502	0.0.0.0:*		LISTEN
Tab No. 1. A.		8 127 8 8 1: 3333	127.0.0.1	48278	TTHE WATT
top e f <td></td> <td>0 10.1.1.48:443</td> <td>10.1.0.1:</td> <td>48812</td> <td>TIME WAIT</td>		0 10.1.1.48:443	10.1.0.1:	48812	TIME WAIT
type e	tcp Ø	0 127.0.0.1:3333	127.0.0.1	:40288	TIME_MAIT
type type <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>					
Victor			10.1.0.1:	48816	
tag 0	tcp 0	0 10.1.1.48:443	10.1.0.1:	48822	TIME_WAIT
triangle	tcp 0	0 10.1.1.48:443	10.1.0.1:	48796	TIME_WAIT
tag e	tcp 0	0 10.1.1.48:443			TIME_WAIT
tab e e e e e e e e e e e e e e d <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>					
top 0	tcp 0	0 127.0.0.1:3333	127.0.0.1	:40292	TIME_WAIT
top e e 227.6.6.1333 227.6.6.144280 TTPL_MATT top e 227.6.6.1333 227.6.6.144280 TTPL_MATT top e 227.6.6.1333 227.6.6.144280 TTPL_MATT top e 127.6.6.144280 TTPL_MATT top e 1122 127.6.6.144280 TTPL_MATT top e 8.1122 127.6.6.144280 15576 top e 8.0.6.054240 0.6.6.07 15576 top e 8.0.6.05420 0.6.6.07 15576 top e 8.0.6.05210 0.6.6.07 15576 top e 8.0.6.05210 0.6.6.07 15576 top e 8.0.6.02120 0.6.6.07		0 192.168.1.249:37158	18.224.17	4.54:34000	B ESTABLISHED
top 0 0 0.27.0.6.1.0332 127.0.6.1.04228 TTPE_MATT top 0 0.122.0.6.1.0332 127.0.6.1.04228 TTPE_MATT top 0 0.122.0.6.1.0332 127.0.6.1.04228 TTPE_MATT top 0 0.122.0.6.1.0328 117.0.0.0028 TTPE_MATT top 0 0.122.0.0.0.0028 0.0.0.01 STTP top 0 0.0.0.01 0.0.0.01 STTP top 0.0.0.01 0.0.0.01 STTP STTP top 0.0.0.01 0.0.0.01	tcp 0	0 127.0.0.1:3333	127.0.0.1	:40284	TIME_MAIT
top a b 2 2 - 0.6.1.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.		0 127.0.0.1:3333	127.0.0.1	:40268	TIME MAIT
unp up 0 0.4.0.4.01545 0.4.0.4.01 unp 0 0.4.0.4.01 0.4.0.4.01 unp 0 0.4.0	tcp 0	0 127.0.0.1:3333	127.0.0.1		TIME_WAIT
upp upp upp upp, upp, upp, upp, upp, upp, upp, upp,		0 :::22	:::*		LISTEN
ump 0		0 0.0.0.0:50745	0.0.0.0:*		
upp 0 0 0.12.106.1.1232 0.4.8.0.1* upp 0 0.2.7.6.1.1232 0.4.8.0.1* upp 0 0.4.8.0.1* 0.4.8.1* upp 0 0.4.8.0.1* 0.1.8.1* upp 0 0.4.8.0.1* 0.1.8.0.1* upp 0 0.4.8.0.1* 0.1.8.0.1* upp 0 0.4.8.0.1* 0.1.8.0.1* upp 0 0.4.		0 10.1.1.48:123			
upp 0	udp 0	8 192.168.1.249:123	0.0.0.0:*		
ump 0		0 127.0.0.1:123			
upp 0					
upp 0	udp Ø	0 0.0.0.0:34000	8.8.8.8:*		
wp6 0 0::::0350 ::::0 wp6 0 0:001500 :::0	udp 0	0 0.0.0.0:5353	0.0.0.0:*		
upde 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11123 111* upde 0 0 11123 111* 110* 110* upde 0 0 11123 111* 110* 110* upde 0 0 11123 111* 110* 1	and a				
upp6 0					
μαρά θ 1:11:123 11:1* μαρά θ θ 1:1:153 11:* μαρά θ θ 1:1:553 11:*	udp6 0	0 fe80::eec3:8aff:fe2:1	23 :::*		
udp6 0 0:::5353 :::*	udp6 0 udp6 0 udp6 0	0 ::1:123	*		
	udp6 0 udp6 0 udp6 0 udp6 0				
SID	udp6 0 udp6 0 udp6 0 udp6 0 udp6 0 udp6 0	0 :::123			
	udp6 8 udp6 8 udp6 8 udp6 8 udp6 8 udp6 8	0 :::123 0 :::5353			





9.2 Host Lookup

In the *Host Lookup* tab, users can utilize the 'ping' function to test the reach-ability to other networks. Users can also use the **ping6** function to ping an IPv6 address.

ter (Communication	Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	Config Management
vork D	Diagnostic Hos	it Lookup			
					Nature of system Convection Text Harre of system of domain num*
					Address 2: 2007/800-0400:00112004 5y12100-16-04.Let0.net Fing PDG unop20:000 (177.217.14.233) 50(5) bytes of data. 40 bytes from y121306-16-4.2000.000 (172.217.14.233) ing_stead tild4 times.51 ms 40 bytes from y121308-16-4.2000.000 (172.217.14.233) ing_stead tild4 times.63 ms
					(a) types from y122084-1-8-4, attached (172,273,484,200): long_sets) titles times, d+ m (d+ types from y122084-1-8-4, attached (172,173,184,200): long_set=11:064 times, d+ m (d+ types from y122084-1-6-4, attached (172,173,184,200): long_set=10.4 titles times, d+ m (d+ types from y122084-1-6-4, tashed (172,173,184,200): long_set=10.4 titles times, d+ m (d+ types) titles titles times ti
					Traceroute
					Trearents is unapplication (T2.17.164.2010, No.58 No.5

9.3 Connection Test

Users can also use the *Connection Test* function to test the local network that the module connected to. The test result will show **SUCCESS** and **PASS** if there are no issues found.

work Diagnostic	n Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	Config Management
work Diagnostic	Connection lest			
				Network Status Host Lookup Connection Test
				This diagnostic page will attempt a connection to the specified network nodes.
				In the process, all network settings will be tested and a report will be given with detailed results of these tests.
				Network Test
				# Loop Back Address # PIN6 127-0.e.1 SKKCBS
				# Gateway #
				PTMG 192.168.1.1 SUCCESS # DMS 1 #
				PING 8.8.8.8 SUCCESS
				# 015 2 # PDI6 0.0.4.4 SUCCESS
				TEST COPPLETE 4/4 PASS
				Begin Test





AcuRev 2100 Series Power Meter: Web Manual

Chapter 10: Firmware

10.1 Module Firmware Update



Chapter 10: Firmware

10.1 Module Firmware Update

The Module Firmware web page is used for updating the firmware version on the AcuRev 2100. There are three different options available for updating the firmware for the meter. Users can either manually update the firmware, remotely, or use the automatic firmware updates. The current version of the firmware will be displayed on the Module firmware update page and can also be viewed on the 'Device Information' page of the web interface.

10.1.1 Auto Firmware Update

There is an Auto Firmware Update feature available which allows users to update the module automatically without manually going into the webserver and performing the update.

The auto firmware update allows users to select three different updating options.

- Disable Disables the auto firmware update function
- Critical Update Only Updates the module to the latest critical firmware
- Automatically keep firmware to Latest Updates the module to the latest firmware

If users select critical or latest firmware update options, the time for the update can be configured. By default the update time is set for 3 am-4 am.

NOTE: The one hour time block means that the update will occur anytime within the hour.



Firmware	
	Auto Firmware Update* Disable Firmware update will be manually executed from this page Critical Update Only "Recommended" Automatically update firmware when a critical and security related issue is fixed Automatically Keep Firmware to Latest Version Check Time* Same - 4am Save
	Remote Update Current version: v1.02 Check
	Manual Update Firmware Update File* Choose file Browse Upload

NOTE: Users can also contact Accuenergy Technical Support for the latest firmware.

10.1.2 Manual Update

Select and upload the AcuRev 2100 firmware file, it is a .a2up file extension.

Meter	Communication	Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	Config Management
Firmwa	re				
			Remote Update Current version: v0.03		
			Check Manual Update		
			Firmware Update File	*	
			ACUREV2100-WEB2	2-v1.00.a2up	Browse
			Upload		

Once the upload was successfully uploaded you will see the following page confirming that the file was uploaded.







Click 'Process' to begin the update.

Manual Update	
Firmware file is ready for processing	
Ready to update	
Your file was successfully uploaded. Click 'Process' to begin upda	te
Process Cancel	

The meter will reboot itself after the update.

Communication	Management	Network Diagnostic Firmware Config Management	
e			
		*****Start undate*****	
		checking if file exist	
		check if file exist complete	
		start decrypting and validating firmware update package	
		decrypting	
		validating	
		succefully decrypting and validating firmware update package /opt/data/firmware/ACUREV2100-WE82-v1.00.a2up	
		getting current root device	
		get current root device complete	
		getting update part	
		get update part complete	
		getting update device	
		get update device complete	
		formatting update device	
		format update device complete creating symlink for the update process	
		creating symlink for the update process creating symlink complete	
		creating symilar complete getting update part	
		get ung opsate part	
		get update part compare installing rootfs	
		extracting files	
		install rootfs complete	
		copying system files	
		copy system files complete	
		comparing perm dir files	
		compare perm dir files complete	
		adjusting fw utils for eMMC	
		adjust fw utils for eMMC complete	
		setting env for new rootfs	
		set env for new rootfs complete	
		firmware update success	

Login to the web interface of AcuRev 2100 after the reboot is complete, and go to the 'About' page to check if the module firmware version is updated.





10.1.3 Remote Update

Users can also use the remote firmware server to update the module firmware. Click on 'Check' to verify if there is a firmware update available.

Communication	Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	Config Management
		Remote Update	3	
			,	
		5-	Remote Update Current version: v0.03	

If there is an update available users can proceed to download the firmware.



Once the download is complete the updating process will begin.







Meter Communication Management	Network Diagnostic Firmware Config Management
mware	
	<pre>****Start update**** checking if file exist check if file check c</pre>

When the firmware update is complete, the module will reboot. The rebooting process will take 1-2 minutes to complete.

ACCUENTER Sign in to continue	
Access level*	
 User View reports and settings Admin Edit settings, control meter 	
Password*	
Enter Password	
Sign In	
SSL Certificate 📥	
Rebooting.	

After the module reboots, users will be able to log back into the web interface. When logged in click on the 'About' tab located on the top right corner of the web page to view the 'Device Information' page. From the Device Information page, users can ensure that the meter was updated correctly to the right firmware version.





AcuRev 2100 Series Power Meter: Web Manual

Chapter 11: Config Management

11.1 Backup Configuration 11.2 Export/Apply Configuration 11.3 Import Configuration



Chapter 11: Config Management

The AcuRev 2100 has a configuration management page that allows users to save all web settings with the exception of certain settings into a configuration file. This is useful if users have more than one meter that needs to be programmed with the same settings, and eliminates any error when trying to configure another AcuRev 2100.

The following settings are saved in the configuration file:

- All Meter settings (Wiring, CT ratio)
- Network settings (Only DNS1, DNS2, Modbus TCP Port, HTTP Proxy)
- All Email settings
- All Time/Date settings
- All Data Log settings
- All Post Channel settings
- All BACnet settings
- All SNMP settings
- Management settings (the View and Admin Access Level passwords, SSH, and Debug Configuration)
- MQTT settings (General, User Credentials, Last Will & Testament, Topic & Parameter Selection)

The settings that are not included or affected by the Config Management file is:

- Most Network settings (DHCP, IP, Submask, Gateway, HTTP Port for both Ethernet 1 and 2. All WiFi settings, HTTP enable, and HTTPS port is not changed)
- AcuCloud
- Remote Access
- MQTT client ID and SSL certificates





The Config Management page can be accessed by clicking on the **Settings** tab and selecting **Config Management**.

Meter Communication Management Network Diagnostic Firmware	Config Management
Config Management	
	Nite Codpartine of Network McGroup Remote Accors wort He include in bothgrippinghoper/Support in they are denire exception Relationation and ensure Network 20 addressions Relationation and ensure Network 20 addressions Relationation Relationation Relation
	Bootop Local Configurations FRename
	No Data
	Import Configuration
	Configuration File* Choose file Environ Enviro
	Respont Meter is under restleted configuration will not be imported

11.1 Backup Configuration

Users can create a backup of the current configurations on the AcuRev 2100 interface.

• **Backup Current Configuration Description:** Enter in a description for the backup configuration file.

Once the description is entered in click on the **Backup** button.

The backup is displayed in the List of Local Configurations. The file has a file format that includes the module serial number, module firmware version, and time stamp that the file was created.

Meter	Communication	Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	Config Management	
Config I	Management					
			Note: Configurations of specific Note: Cannot have more Backup Current Co	than 10 configu		MQTT's client ID and SSL certificates won't be included in backup/apply/impart/capart as they are device
			Description			
			Test1			
			Backup			

NOTE: Users cannot have more than 10 configurations in the List of Local Configurations.





Meter	Communication	Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	Config Management					
nfig N	Management									
			Note: Configurations of specific Note: Cannot have more			1QTT's client ID and SSL certificate	s won't be included in b	sckup/apply/import/	'export as they are devi	ce
			Backup Current Cor	nfiguration						
			Description							
			Test1							
			Backup							
			Local Configuration	15						
			Filename							
			EHM20020001-v0.0	3-2020-08-17	T12-01-32-0700.conf.ehm	⊗ ≛ ∎				
			EHM20020001-v1.0	0-2020-09-08	T12-41-45-0700.conf.ehm	0 1 1				

Users can click on **Detail** to view the description of the configuration file. The details include the Model name, serial number, time created. firmware version and the description entered when the backup was created. Users can remove any of the configuration files from the list at any time by selecting **Delete**.







11.2 Export/Apply Configuration

Users can export the configuration file and use it on other AcuRev 2100 units. The file is downloaded as a .ehm file.

To implement the configuration file click on the green check button to *Apply*. A prompt warning the user that the existing .conf.ehm file will be overwritten is shown. Click *Yes* to continue.



A module reboot is required for the configuration to take effect. If users decided to reboot later the reboot must be performed from the Management page in order for the settings to take effect on the device.

11.3 Import Configuration

Import Configuration: Users can import a configuration file (.conf.ehm file format) to the AcuRev 2100.

IEE v CDI ate modified Type Size 021-07-18.405 PM EH4M File 11
221-01-18-4:06 PM EHM File 11





Click on *Import* to upload the configuration file to the AcuRev 2100.

The newly imported file will now appear in the List of Local Configurations

						Configuration file import successful
leter	Communication	Management	Network Diagnostic	Firmware	Config Management	
nfig N	/lanagement					
			Note: Configurat Note: Cannot ha			ccess, MQTT's client ID and SSL certificates won't be included in backup/apply/impo
			Backup Curre	nt Configurati	ion	
			Description			
			Enter Descri	ption		
			Backup			
			Local Configu	rations		
			Filename			
			EHM2002000	1-v1.02-2021-0	01-18T16-06-52-0500.conf.	ehm i ⊘ 🛓 💼
			Import Confi	guration		
			Configuration	File*		
			Choose file		Browse	
			Import			

NOTE: Users cannot import a file that already exists on the local configurations, when the list already contains 10 config files, and cannot import a config file that has been exported from an AcuRev 2100 with a higher firmware version.







ACCUENERGY INC.

440 Comstock Road Toronto, ON M1L 2L6, Canada

ACCUENERGY SOUTH AFRICA (PTY) LTD

Castle Walk Corporate Park, Block B, Cnr. Nossob & Swakop Street Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, 0181 South Africa FAX: +1-416-497-4130 E: marketing@accuenergy.com

TF: +27 (0) 87 802 6136

TF: 1-877-721-8908 INT: +1-416-497-4100

